

AVON MAITLAND DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

BOARD POLICY #9

BOARD GOVERNANCE BY-LAWS

Legal References: *Education Act: Section 55 Representation of Pupils on Boards; Section 191 Trustee Honoraria and Expenses; Section 207 Open and Closed Meetings; Section 208 Board Meetings; Section 208.1 Electronic Meetings; Section 209 Trustee Declaration; Part VII Board Members—Qualifications, Resignations, Vacancies, and In Person Attendance; Ontario Regulation 463/97 Electronic Meetings; Municipal Conflict of Interest Act; Municipal Elections Act; Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, Bill 177*

Related References: *Educating Together: A Handbook for Trustees, School Boards and Communities. OPSBA 2003; Good Governance: A Guide for Trustees, School Boards, Directors of Education and Communities; Robert's Rules of Order*

Avon Maitland District School Board is a board of education established under the *Education Act*, with power to perform all the duties conferred or imposed upon a public school board by that or any other Act of the Legislative Assembly of the Province of Ontario. It shall operate in accordance with the provisions of the *Education Act*, other applicable legislation, the pertinent regulations of the Ministry of Education, and the following policy.

Avon Maitland District School Board believes that its ability to discharge its obligations in an efficient and effective manner is dependent upon the development and implementation of a sound organizational design. In order to discharge its responsibilities to the electorate of the district, the board shall hold regular meetings. The board has adopted policies so that the business of the board can be conducted in an orderly and efficient manner.

The board believes that a fundamental obligation is to preserve, if not enhance, trust in public education generally, and in the affairs of Avon Maitland District School Board operations in particular. Consistent with its objective to encourage the general public to contribute to the educational process, board meetings will be open to the public. The board believes its affairs should be conducted in public to the greatest extent possible.

The board believes there are times when the public interest is best served by private discussion of specific issues during closed sessions. A meeting of a committee of the board, including a committee of the whole board, may be closed to the public when certain matters, as outlined in legislation, are discussed.

BOARD GOVERNANCE BY-LAWS
TABLE OF CONTENTS (by subject)

	Section	Page
Amendments to the Board Governance By-Laws	14	25
Attendance at Meetings	3	6
Board Review/Self Evaluation	13	24
Conflict of Interest	5.1	8
Delegations	5.2	8
Elections		
Election of the Chair	1.3	3
Election of the Vice-Chair	1.4	4
Election of OPSBA Delegates	1.5 – 1.6	4
Electronic Meetings	6	13
Expenses – Board Members	10	20
Indemnification of Board Members	11	24
Meetings of the Board		
Inaugural Meeting	1	3
Regular Meeting	2.1	4
Closed Meeting	2.1.3	5
Special Meeting	2.3	5
Motions and Voting	5.3.3 – 5.5	12
Officers of the Board (Responsibilities)	7	14
Order of Business	4	7
Polling the Board	2.4	6
Quorum	3.7	7
Rules of Order	5	9
Student Representation on the Board	8	15
Tributes: Illness and Funerals	12	22
Trustee Vacancy (Filling)	9	19
<i>Appendix 1 Parliamentary Procedure Made Easy</i>	26	
<i>Appendix 2 Governance Structure</i>	27	

1. Inaugural or Initial Board Meeting

First Meeting

- 1.1 The first meeting of a newly elected board shall take place at the board's head office at 7:00 p.m. on the first Tuesday in December of the year of the election of the board except that, on the petition of a majority of the members of the board, the secretary of the board shall call the first meeting of the board at some other time and date. Notwithstanding, the first meeting of a newly elected board shall be held not later than seven days after the day on which the term of office of the board commences.

Procedure

- 1.2 The procedure at the first meeting of the board in December, including the year of a newly elected board, shall be as follows:
 - 1.2.1 The secretary of the board shall call the roll. The secretary of the board shall call the board to order and, where applicable, proceed to read the return of elections and resolutions or certificates of appointment of newly elected members and call for and receive declarations of office. (If all declarations have been duly executed prior to the commencement of the meeting, the secretary will so announce.) A majority of the members of the board shall form a quorum.
 - 1.2.2 Devotional exercises may be conducted immediately following the calling of the roll.
 - 1.2.3 All Trustees shall state and sign their attestation contained in Policy #5 re Board Member Code of Conduct. Absent Trustees shall perform this attestation at their first attended board meeting in the new year.

Election of the Chair

- 1.3 Election of the chair of the board shall be by secret ballot and on all occasions when the result of a ballot is disclosed, there shall be no declaration of the count. The election procedure is as follows:
 - 1.3.1 Scrutineers: The secretary shall call for a motion naming two scrutineers who shall be two senior administrators of the board.
 - 1.3.2 Secret Ballot Vote if Attending by Electronic Means: A trustee attending the meeting by electronic means shall be allowed to participate in the secret ballot for election of chair by privately advising each of the scrutineers of his/her choice of nominee or candidate for each ballot, and the scrutineers will write that choice on the appropriate ballot and place the ballot in the ballot box.
 - 1.3.3 Nominations shall be by secret ballot and each ballot shall be valid only if it contains the name of one nominee.
 - 1.3.4 The secretary shall announce the result of the ballot by declaring the names of those nominated in alphabetical order. The members nominated shall be asked in alphabetical order to declare their willingness to stand. Those standing for election will be allowed up to two minutes to speak prior to the election.
 - 1.3.5 The member receiving a clear majority of the votes cast shall be declared elected.

- 1.3.6 Should no member receive a clear majority of the votes cast, the name of the member receiving the smallest number of votes shall be dropped. In the event that the balloting results in a tie vote between the two members receiving the smallest number of votes, these two members shall draw lots to decide whose name shall continue to be on the slate of nominees. The board shall proceed to vote anew and so continue until one member receives a clear majority of the votes cast and such member shall be declared elected.
- 1.3.7 In the event that the balloting results in a tie vote between two members, the election shall be decided as provided in the *Education Act*, Section 208, subsection 8: "In the case of an equality of votes at the election of a chair or vice-chair, the candidates shall draw lots to fill the position of chair or vice-chair, as the case may be."
- 1.3.8 The secretary shall announce the result of the ballot by declaring the name of the member who has received a clear majority of the votes cast.
- 1.3.9 The chair shall assume the chair.

Election of Vice Chair

- 1.4 Election of the vice chair of the board shall be as in Section 1.3 above. The vice-chair of the board shall be chair of the committee of the whole, closed session board.

Election of Delegate to OPSBA

- 1.5 Election of a member to serve as voting delegate to and director of the Ontario Public School Boards' Association (OPSBA) shall be as in Section 1.3 above.
 - 1.5.1 In every year except the year following a school board/municipal election this election is to take place in the first meeting of the board in May.
 - 1.5.2 When there is a school board/municipal election in the fall of the year, the incumbent shall serve until November 30 in that year only. The election for the OPSBA delegate shall then be held at the Inaugural meeting of the new board in December. There will be no election in May in the year following a school board/municipal election. In this case the OPSBA delegate elected at the Inaugural Meeting will hold the position until May of the following year (for a period of 16 months).

Election of Alternate Delegate to OPSBA

- 1.6 Election of a member to serve as alternate voting delegate to and alternate director of the Ontario Public School Boards' Association (OPSBA) shall be as in Section 1.3 above.
 - 1.6.1 In every year except the year following a school board/municipal election this election is to take place in the first meeting of the board in May.
 - 1.6.2 When there is a school board/municipal election in the fall of the year, the incumbent shall serve until November 30 in that year only. The election for the OPSBA delegate shall then be held at the Inaugural meeting of the new board in December. There will be no election in May in the year following a school board/municipal election. In this case the OPSBA delegate elected at the Inaugural Meeting will hold the position until May of the following year (for a period of 16 months).
 - 1.6.3 The Board's alternate delegate serves in place of the delegate when the delegate is unable to perform his or her duties.

Destruction of Ballots

- 1.7 Destruction of Ballots: Upon completion of elections for all offices as set out in Sections 1.3, 1.4, 1.5 and 1.6 above, the board, by motion, shall direct that all ballots be destroyed.

2. Meetings of the Board

Avon Maitland District School Board shall generally meet as a board twice a month in public and closed session as permitted by the *Education Act*.

2.1 Regular Meetings

The meetings of the board shall be held on the second and fourth Tuesdays of each month of the school year except that a meeting shall not be held on the second Tuesday in January, during the Christmas break or March Break nor on the fourth Tuesday in March when the preceding week is March Break, unless determined otherwise by motion or poll or the incumbent board as determined by the chair.

2.1.1 Summer Meetings

Summer meetings of the board (i.e., in July and August) will be held on an “as required” basis at the call of the chair.

2.1.2 Curfew

The board shall not remain in session later than 10:30 p.m. unless determined by a majority vote of the members present, and no meeting shall be extended beyond 11:00 p.m. unless by unanimous approval of the members present every 30 minutes thereafter.

2.1.3 Closed Meetings

As set out in Section 207 (2) of the *Education Act*, a meeting of a committee of a board, including a committee of the whole board, may be closed to the public when the subject under consideration involves:

2.1.3.1 The security of the property of the board

2.1.3.2 The disclosure of intimate, personal or financial information in respect of a member of the board or committee, an employee or prospective employee of the board or a pupil or his or her parent or guardian

2.1.3.3 The acquisition or disposal of a school site

2.1.3.4 Decisions in respect of negotiations with employees of the board, or

2.1.3.5 Litigation affecting the board

Decisions may be reached in a closed meeting. However, any actions evolving from the decisions must be enacted at the regular meeting of the board.

Following discussion, trustees rise from the closed session and report to the board on any recommendations agreed upon. If the recommendations are to become a resolution of the board, there will be a motion in open session to adopt the recommendation from the closed session.

2.2 Notice of Board Meetings

2.2.1 Written notice of all regular meetings of the board shall be communicated to each member at least 48 hours before the time of the meeting. Included with the notice shall be the meeting agenda and minutes from the previous board meeting(s) not previously approved. Members not receiving the notice or the board agenda by the Monday morning prior to the board meeting will be responsible for notifying the secretary's office.

2.2.2 Copies of reports to be presented to any meeting of the board shall be delivered by email with the notice of such meeting. The consideration of reports sent at a later date and items of new business arising at the meeting may, by decision of the majority of the board, be considered at that meeting of the board.

2.3 Special Board Meetings

- 2.3.1 A special meeting of the board may be called at any time on notice by the chair. Notice of such special meeting shall be given as soon as possible but a minimum of 24 hours prior to the time of such meeting. Notice of a special meeting need not be in writing, but delivered by the method deemed most likely to be received. Trustees are to acknowledge receipt of the notice as soon as possible. A second notification by an alternate method will be sent to non-responding members 4 to 6 hours prior to the meeting. A record of the date and time members were given notice shall be recorded in the minutes of the special meeting. The express purpose of such meeting shall be stated and no business shall be considered other than that stated in the notice unless all members of the board are present and unanimously consent thereto.
- 2.3.2 A special meeting of the board shall be called by the chair within 48 hours on a written request signed by three members. The express purpose of such meeting shall be stated and no business shall be considered other than that stated in the notice unless all members of the board are present and unanimously consent thereto. Should the chair fail to call the meeting requested by three members within 48 hours, it shall be the duty of the secretary to do so. Notice of such special meeting shall be given 24 hours previous to the time of such meeting.

2.4 Polling the Board

- 2.4.1 From time to time, it may be necessary to poll the members of the board for a decision which cannot be delayed to the next regular meeting and which, on the other hand, is not considered by the chair to be sufficiently important and/or contentious to warrant the calling of a special board meeting.
- In such cases:
- 2.4.1.1 The chair authorizes a poll to be conducted
- 2.4.1.2 The secretary of the board (or designate) delivers the necessary background information to board members so that they may determine in advance whether to vote “yea” or “nay”
- 2.4.1.3 On a day announced in the information delivered as per 2.4.1.2 above, the secretary of the board (or designate) telephones each board member to obtain a vote
- Note: Board members who will not be available are at liberty to either phone in their vote beforehand or to leave a message at home on how they vote.
- 2.4.1.4 Provided that a quorum has voted and that an attempt has been made to contact all board members, the secretary of the board carries out the wishes of the majority
- 2.4.1.5 Where it has not been possible to contact a quorum, the chair, or in the chair’s absence or unavailability, the vice-chair shall make the decision
- 2.4.1.6 In the absence of both the chair and the vice-chair, and when it has not been possible to contact a quorum, the secretary of the board shall make the decision and it shall be binding upon the board
- 2.4.1.7 In cases of extreme emergency, or where time is of the essence, steps 2.4.1.2 and 2.4.1.3 may be omitted and the reason for the poll shall be explained when the telephone call is made
- 2.4.1.8 Notice, in the form of minutes or notes of said poll, will be included with the next agenda of the board and will be approved by the board in the same fashion as the board approves minutes of a previous meeting.

3. Attendance at Meetings

3.1 It is the expectation of Avon Maitland District School Board that its members attend all board meetings and meetings of committees of which they are members.

3.2 Absence from a Meeting

Members of the board shall advise the chair of the board and office of the secretary of the board as soon as possible that they will be absent from a meeting. If a quorum is not present, the meeting may be cancelled, but presentations and delegations may be heard.

3.3 Definition of meeting locations for boards and requirements for members' attendance is provided in the *Education Act*, Sections 208.1 (1) and (2); Section 228 (1); Section 229(1) and (2); Regulation 463/97 and in Section 6 of these governance by-laws.

Provision for attendance at regular meetings of the board is by physical presence in the meeting room of the board or by participating in a meeting through electronic means. A member of Avon Maitland District School Board must be physically present in the meeting room of the board for at least three regular meetings in each 12-month period beginning in December and must not be absent, without being authorized by resolution entered in the minutes, from three consecutive regular meetings of the board.

3.4 Prolonged Absence

If a member of the board misses three consecutive regular meetings of the board, the member is deemed to have vacated the seat on the board unless the member's absence has been authorized by board resolution entered in the minutes. A member wishing to request such authorization should contact the office of the secretary of the board to arrange to have the request placed on a future board agenda for consideration by the board.

3.5 Failing to Fulfill Obligations

If a trustee fails to fulfill obligations, refer to policy 5 re Code of Conduct.

3.6 Attendance Report

A trustee attendance report shall be prepared annually. This report shall summarize the attendance of each trustee at the board meetings held during the previous school year.

3.7 Quorum

A quorum of the board shall be a majority of all members. Should there be no quorum present thirty minutes after the time appointed for the meeting, the secretary shall cause to be recorded the names of those members present, and the chair shall set the time and place of the next meeting. Staff presentations and delegations may be heard. When a quorum is no longer in attendance at the board meeting, no business can legally be transacted, and it shall be the responsibility of the presiding chair and the secretary to note the lack of a quorum and to have the fact recorded in the minutes.

4. Order of Business

The order of business (agenda) of all regular and special board meetings is prepared by the secretary of the board. For “Notice of Board Meetings” see 2.2.

The suggested order of business for the first Board meeting of the months in which there are two board meetings is:

1. Call to Order
“We acknowledge that we are on the traditional land of the Anishnaabe Peoples. We wish to recognize the long history of First Nations and Metis Peoples in Ontario and show our respect to them today. We recognize their stewardship of the land; may we all live with respect on this land and live in peace and friendship.”
2. Committee of the Whole – Closed Session, if required 5:00 p.m.
3. Committee of the Whole, Open Session 6:00 p.m.
4. Routine Matters 8:00 p.m.
 - 4.1. Approval of Agenda
 - 4.2. Declaration of Pecuniary Interest
 - 4.3. Approval of Minutes
 - 4.4. Business Arising from the Minutes
 - 4.5. Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, Report to Board
 - 4.6. Committee of the Whole, Open Session, Report to Board
 - 4.7. Trustee Reflection Statement
 - 4.8. Good News
 - 4.9. Student Trustee Update
 - 4.10. Public Delegations
 - 4.11. Student and/or Staff Presentations
5. Recommendations for Immediate Action
 - 5.1 Committee Reports
 - 5.2 Chair’s Reports
 - 5.3 Director’s Reports
6. Information and Progress Reports
 - 6.1 Committee Reports
 - 6.2 Chair’s Reports
 - 6.3 Director’s Reports
 - 6.4 OPSBA Update
 - 6.5 Minutes from Board Committees: (examples)
 - i) Joint Health and Safety Committee
 - ii) Special Education Advisory Committee (SEAC)
 - iii) Student Senate
 - 6.6 Correspondence
7. New Business
8. Announcements
 - 8.1 Future Board Meetings
 - 8.2 Future Meetings/Events with Trustee Participation
9. Adjournment
10. Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, continues if not concluded before 8:00 p.m.
11. Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, report to Board Meeting, if applicable.

The suggested order of business for the second board meeting of the months in which there are two Board meetings, or for months in which there is one Board meeting is (Exception: when an Open Session is added, the timing will follow the format above):

1. Call to Order
"We acknowledge that we are on the traditional land of the Anishnaabe Peoples. We wish to recognize the long history of First Nations and Metis Peoples in Ontario and show our respect to them today. We recognize their stewardship of the land; may we all live with respect on this land and live in peace and friendship."
2. Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, if required 7:00 p.m.
3. Student Advisory Committee (informal meeting with Student Senators and Trustees) 7:30 p.m.
3. Routine Matters 8:00 p.m.
 - 3.1 Approval of Agenda
 - 3.2 Declaration of Pecuniary Interest
 - 3.3 Approval of Minutes
 - 3.4 Business Arising From the Minutes
 - 3.5 Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, report to Board Meeting
 - 3.6 Trustee Reflection Statement
 - 3.7 Good News
 - 3.8 Student Trustee Update
 - 3.9 Public Delegations
 - 3.10 Student and/or Staff Presentations
4. Recommendations for Immediate Action:
 - 4.1 Committee Reports
 - 4.2 Chair's Reports
 - 4.3 Director's Reports
5. Information and Progress Reports:
 - 5.1 Committee Reports
 - 5.2 Director's Reports
 - 5.3 OPSBA Update
 - 5.4 Minutes from Board Committees
 - 5.5 Correspondence
6. Committee of the Whole, Open Session, if required
7. Committee of the Whole, Open Session, report to Board Meeting, if required
8. Notice(s) of Motion
9. New Business
10. Announcements:
 - 10.1 Future Board Meetings
 - 10.2 Future Meetings/Events with Trustee Participation
11. Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, continues if not concluded before 8:00 p.m.
12. Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, report to Board Meeting, if applicable
13. Adjournment

5. Rules of Order

5.1 Conflict of Interest

In conformity with the *Municipal Conflict of Interest Act* (1983):

- a) Where a member has any significant pecuniary interest, direct or indirect, in any matter, the member must disclose the general nature of interest before any consideration of the matter. The member must not take part in any consideration or discussion of, or vote on any question in respect to the matter, and must not attempt in any way before, during or after the meeting to influence the voting.
- b) The member must leave the meeting during the time the matter is under discussion.
Note: "Meeting" is defined to "include any regular, closed, special committee or other meeting" of the board.

5.1.1 Disclose if Absent

If absent from a meeting, members of the board must disclose their interest at the first meeting attended after such meeting.

5.1.2 Record in Minutes

Declarations of pecuniary interest and the general nature thereof must be recorded in the minutes of the open meetings. Every declaration of interest made in private meetings, but not the general nature of the interest, must be recorded in the minutes of the next open meeting.

5.2 Delegations

5.2.1 Request in Writing

Requests of delegations to appear before the board or one of its committees must be in writing and received by the secretary by 4:30 p.m. on the day preceding the board or committee meeting, unless by motion of a majority of the members present the board or committee determines it will hear the delegation. The chair of the board may direct that a delegation requesting a hearing before the board be heard instead by an appropriate committee of the board. A request must state the reason for the delegation to appear or the delegation will not be heard. Delegations shall submit their material in writing, prior to the presentation, to the secretary.

5.2.2 Spokesperson and Time Allocation

The delegation shall name a spokesperson(s). The delegation shall be allowed up to ten minutes to address the board or the committee on its first appearance on an issue, and up to five minutes for subsequent appearances, subject to subsection 5.2.4 (c). There shall be a maximum of six delegations permitted at a regular meeting.

5.2.3 Hearing the Delegation

- a) The secretary shall inform the delegation of the date of the meeting and the approximate time when the presentation will be heard. At the time of notification, delegations will be informed of the time available for the presentation. They will also be informed that there may be no response to the presentation at the meeting, and that there may be questions of clarification asked of them by members of the board at the end of the presentation. Delegations will also be informed that the purpose of a delegation is to allow the presentation to be heard, and not to debate the issue at the time of presentation. They will further be advised that, at the conclusion of the presentation, the concern raised will either be referred to the appropriate committee, referred to a future board meeting, or handled by letter following the board meeting, as determined by the chair. Delegations will be offered a copy of the Delegations section of the Governance Bylaw before the meeting at which they are to appear.
- b) Delegations appearing before the board will be introduced by the chair who shall announce the board's policy regarding delegations.
- c) The chair shall announce how much time is available to the delegation and shall rule on the acceptability of the presentation and adherence to the time limit. The chair may limit or conclude a presentation that deviates materially from the announced topic of the presentation or essentially repeats a previous presentation to the incumbent board or committee. The spokesperson(s) for a delegation must refrain from the use of abusive, profane or derogatory language at all times, and the chair may expel or exclude from any meeting any person(s) who engages in this or any other form of improper conduct.
- d) Following the presentation, the chair shall ask the members of the board if there is any point they wish clarified. At no time during the meeting will members of the board or staff enter into discussion with any member of the delegation except to request clarification of a point made in the presentation.
- e) As soon as the chair is satisfied that all points have been clarified, the chair shall inform the delegation that the board will take the presentation under consideration.
- f) The chair shall acknowledge the presentation. The chair shall request a written copy of the remarks if not previously submitted. If not stated, the chair shall ask the delegation what board action is being requested.
- g) The matter may then be considered by the board in public session or in closed session as required or permitted by the Board's Governance Bylaws or the *Education Act*, or as otherwise directed by the chair or by motion of the board.
- h) Within 30 days, the secretary shall inform the delegation of the disposition of its request, and include the date, time and place of any meeting of the board or a committee of the board on which agenda the subject matter is to appear.

5.2.4 Time Limits

- a) In exceptional circumstances, the chair, in consultation with the vice-chair and secretary of the board, has the right to limit the allowed time for a presentation by a delegation, or the number of delegations to be heard at a meeting of the board.
- b) However, the chair must provide an opportunity for all delegations wishing to speak on a topic to be received at subsequent regular meetings of the board (to a maximum of six delegations in total at a regular meeting, as stated in Section 5.2.2 above) or at one or more special meetings of the board to be called for that purpose.

- c) Once the board has made a decision or has taken no action on a matter raised by a delegation or delegations, the board will not entertain a further delegation on substantially the same issue within the ensuing six month period, unless the chair is of the opinion that there is sufficient new information to warrant a review, or unless the board has agreed to re-open the matter.

5.3 Rules of Order for Board Meetings

5.3.1 Presiding at Meetings

- a) The chair shall preside at all meetings, or in the chair's absence, the vice-chair shall perform the duties of the chair. In the absence of the vice-chair, or while the vice-chair is serving as chair; the board shall choose a member to serve as vice-chair. [See Policy No. 8, Role of the Vice-Chair]
- b) In the absence of both the chair and the vice-chair, the secretary shall call the meeting to order, and call for a motion naming a member to act as chair temporarily. In the absence of the chair, and where the vice-chair wishes to chair the committee of the whole, the secretary shall open the board meeting.

5.3.2 Appeal of Chair's Decision

- a) The chair shall preserve order and decorum, and decide all questions of order, subject to an appeal to the board. A member may immediately appeal a decision of the chair. The chair may request the reason for the appeal and shall explain the reason for the decision.
- b) When called to decide a point of order, the chair shall, if requested, state the reasoning applicable to the case. Appeals from the chair's ruling shall be decided without debate (unless the chair invites discussion thereon) and shall be submitted in the following form: "Shall the decision of the chair be sustained (or upheld)?"

5.3.3 Board Motions

- a) Every member, prior to speaking to any question or motion, shall address the chair and be recognized.
- b) When two or more members address the chair at the same time, the chair shall name the member who is to speak.
- c) No member shall interrupt another while speaking, unless to raise a point of order. Members raising a point of order shall be recognized by the chair and shall confine themselves to the point of order or explanation.
- d) Any member may require the motion under discussion to be read for information at any time during the debate, provided that no such request shall be made so as to interrupt the member speaking to the question.
- e) After a motion has been moved and seconded, the chair shall allow reasonable discussion prior to calling the vote.
The member introducing the motion shall be given the opportunity to speak first, and have the privilege of replying immediately prior to calling the vote. After the motion is read by the chair it shall be deemed to be in possession of the board, but it may be withdrawn at the request of both the mover and seconder.
- f) When the question under consideration contains two or more distinct propositions, upon request of any member, the chair shall rule whether or not any particular proposition shall be considered and voted upon separately.
- g) No motion or amendment shall be debated unless the same be moved and seconded, except formal motions to adopt reports, to refer, to postpone, to lay on the table, to put the previous question, to file, to pay accounts or to adjourn.

- h) When a motion is under debate, the motions in order of precedence shall be:
 - i. to adjourn; (decided without debate)
 - ii. to lay on the table; (decided without debate)
 - iii. to call the question; (decided without debate)
 - iv. to postpone; (decided without debate)
 - v. to refer; (debatable only as to time and place)
 - vi. to amend.
- i) A motion to lay on the table may be reconsidered by the motion "to take from the table."
- j) A motion to adjourn shall be in order, except when a member is speaking or a vote is being taken, or when the question has been called. A simple motion to adjourn shall not be open to amendment or debate; but a motion to adjourn to a certain time may be amended and debated. After a motion to adjourn has been defeated, a second motion to the same effect shall not be made until after some intermediate question(s) has (have) been disposed.
- k) The motion to call the question shall preclude all further amendment or debate, and shall be submitted by the chair in this form: "Shall the question in debate be now called?" If adopted, the chair shall at once proceed to put the main question and any amendments pending to the vote of the board. However, if the motion to call the question is defeated, the main question may then be debated and amended.
- l) A question having been postponed indefinitely shall not be taken up again at the same meeting.
- m) A motion to refer to a standing committee shall take precedence over a motion to refer to any other committee. A motion to refer to a committee shall take precedence over a motion to refer to the director of education.
- n) After a resolution is moved and seconded, a motion to amend may be made, and a motion to amend the amendment, but no further motion shall be made until these have been decided.
- o) All questions shall be put in the order in which they are moved except that the amendments shall be put before the main motion; the last amendment first and so on.

5.3.4 **Voting**

- a) After the chair has put the questions to a vote there shall be no further debate.
- b) Every member present, when a question is put, shall vote thereon unless excused by the board.
- c) A two-thirds majority of the trustees attending the meeting is required:
 - i. To close nominations;
 - ii. To rescind a previous action of the board;
 - iii. To refuse to consider a question;
 - iv. To suspend a rule of order;
 - v. To overturn a ruling of the chair;
 - vi. To censure or expel a member of the board; [Section 2.3.1 in Policy No. 5 Board Members' Code of Conduct and Section 3.5 in Policy No. 9 Board Governance By-Laws]; and
 - vii. To approve, amend, alter, add to, or rescind a policy of the board.

5.3.5 **Reconsidering a Question**

- a) A motion to re-consider must be moved by a member who voted on the prevailing side. After a vote has been taken on any question (except one of indefinite postponement) such vote may be reconsidered at any time during the same meeting. Alternatively, it may be reconsidered at any meeting held thereafter, provided the mover gives notice to that effect, in writing, to the secretary of the board for inclusion in the agenda.

- b) A motion to re-consider being once made and decided in the negative shall not again be entertained for three months.

5.3.6 Rules of Parliamentary Debate

- a) The rules of parliamentary debate as set out in these by-laws and in the attached Appendix 1 - *Parliamentary Procedure Made Easy* shall govern. In case of conflict between these two, the text of these by-laws shall govern. Where existing board governance by-laws do not apply to or remedy a specific situation, the applicable reference in *Robert's Rules of Order* shall apply.
- b) In exceptional circumstances as determined by a unanimous vote of the board, rules of the board may be suspended.

5.4 Recorded Vote

- 5.4.1 The recorded vote is sometimes known as a roll call vote. A recorded vote shall be held on any questions prior to the vote when so requested by any member of the board who is eligible to vote on the question. Approval of the board is not necessary.
- 5.4.2 The chair of the board declares the results of the vote. A listing of each board member's vote is included in the minutes.

5.5 Proxy Vote

There is no provision for proxy votes in the *Education Act* or Regulations made under the *Education Act*. Therefore, proxy votes shall not be permitted.

6. Electronic Means for the Holding of Meetings

- 6.1 Avon Maitland District School Board recognizes the value of using electronic modes of communication in conducting its business.
 - 6.1.1 Avon Maitland District School Board recognizes the need to make provision for the use of electronic means for the holding of meetings of the board and its committees.
- 6.2 Avon Maitland District School Board has, as required by *Ontario Regulation 463/97—Electronic Meetings* made under the *Education Act*, developed and implemented a policy providing for the use of electronic means for the holding of meetings of the board and meetings of a committee of the board, including a committee of the whole board.
- 6.3 Unless indicated otherwise, the use of the term “meetings of the board” throughout this by-law refers to meetings of the board and meetings of a committee of the board, including a committee of the whole board.
 - 6.3.1 At the request of a board member or student trustee spokesperson, in situations where it is not possible for the member or student trustee spokesperson to attend a regularly scheduled or special meeting of the board, the board shall provide electronic means for participation in a meeting of the board. Except in emergency situations, such request must be made to the chair or secretary of the board at least forty-eight hours before the commencement of said meeting.
 - 6.3.2 Where appropriate, electronic means will be provided in the regular meeting place of the board and at one other location to allow public participation and to enable the public to hear all the debate during the public session. The board shall ensure that the room for a meeting of the board is open to permit physical attendance by members of the public at every meeting of the board.

- 6.3.3 The following persons must be physically present in the board meeting room for any meeting of the board or committee of the whole:
- The chair of the board or designate
 - At least one additional member of the board
 - The director of education or designate
- 6.3.4 The following persons must be physically present in the committee meeting room for any meeting of the board's committees (except for committee of the whole):
- The chair of the committee or designate
 - The director of education or designate
- 6.3.5 A board member who participates in a meeting by electronic means is considered to be present at the meeting and will be recorded in the attendance for the meeting.
- 6.3.6 Given that the member must be able to be heard and hear all other participants in the meeting, audio teleconferencing will be the electronic means used.
- 6.3.7 All provisions in the legislation with regard to closed session meetings and conflict of interest will apply for electronic meetings of the board or committees.
- 6.3.8 Any member of the board, student trustee spokesperson or member of the public who participates in a meeting by electronic means in accordance with this policy shall be required to act in accordance with the Board's Governance Bylaws.
- 6.3.9 The chair of the board or secretary of the board shall have authority to refuse to provide a member with electronic means of participation in a meeting of the board where it is deemed impossible to ensure compliance with 6.3.8 above, or, if it is not possible for the required persons (as indicated in 6.3.3 and 6.3.4 above) to be physically present at the meeting.

7. Officers of the Board

7.1. The officers of the board shall be the chair, vice-chair, secretary of the board and treasurer of the board.

7.1.1 The chair and the vice-chair are elected annually and shall hold office until immediately prior to the Inaugural meeting except in an election year.

7.1.2 The director of education is also secretary of the board and the senior business official is also treasurer of the board and they hold these offices at the pleasure of the board.

7.1.3 The signing officers of the board shall be the chair, the vice-chair in the absence of the chair, the director of education and the senior business official.

7.2 Responsibilities of the Chair

7.2.1 These responsibilities are set out in Policy No. 7 Role of the Board Chair.

7.3 Responsibilities of the Vice-Chair

7.3.1 These responsibilities are described in Policy No. 8 Role of the Board Vice-Chair.

7.4 Responsibilities of the OPSBA Representatives

7.4.1 These responsibilities are delineated in Policy No. 11 Board Representatives on External Committees.

7.5 Responsibilities of the Secretary of the Board

7.5.1 The secretary of the board shall:

- a) keep a full and correct record of the proceedings of every meeting of the board;
- b) complete all board correspondence as required and directed by the board;
- c) transmit copies of reports as requested by the Ministry of Education;
- d) carry out board decisions;
- e) create an organization which will ensure that board decisions are implemented effectively;
- f) act as administrative liaison to the chair and vice-chair of the board;
- g) be a signing officer of the board; and
- h) perform such other duties as may be required by the *Education Act*, by the Regulations or by the board.

7.6 Responsibilities of the Treasurer for the Board

7.6.1 Responsibilities of the treasurer of the board:

- a) receive and account for all moneys of the board;
- b) be a signing officer of the board;
- c) act as administrative liaison to the Finance Committee and Audit Committee; and
- d) perform such other duties as may be required by the *Education Act*, by the Regulations, or by the board.

7.7 Responsibilities of the Recording Secretary for the Board

7.7.1 The administrative assistant to the director of education attends all meetings of the board in the capacity of recording secretary.

7.7.2 The recording secretary is responsible for:

- a) Maintaining an accurate record of board members' attendance at board meetings;
- b) Ensuring that each motion is properly moved and seconded and so advising the secretary when such is not the case (ref 5.3.4 b);
- c) Recording the content of each motion and the result of any vote thereon;
- d) Preparing the minutes of each board meeting;
- e) Obtaining the signature of the chair on the official copy of board meeting minutes;
- f) Amending the official copy of board meeting minutes when so directed by the board;
- g) Safekeeping of official minutes of board meetings.

8. Representation of Pupils on the Board and Student Senate

This policy establishes means by which students may be meaningfully involved in board governance matters in compliance with the *Education Act*, Section 55 *Representation of Pupils on School Boards*, Section 6 of Bill 78, the Education Statute Law Amendment Act (Student Performance), 2006 and Ontario Regulation 7/07. This policy also realizes the board's desire to involve its students in understanding the issues and operation of public education in the board.

It is the policy of Avon Maitland District School Board to establish a Student Senate and a mechanism for selecting pupil representation on the board.

8.1 Selection of Student Senators and Student Trustees

- 8.1.1 Each secondary school shall describe in the student council's constitution a selection process for student senators. In each secondary school, up to two (2) students shall be elected or acclaimed each spring by his or her peers to represent the school on the Student Senate and to liaise with students in the feeder schools. The school's selection process shall also describe a replacement process should a student member resign from the committee or fail to maintain regular attendance.
- 8.1.2 The term of office for student senator starts on August 1 of the year in which he or she is elected and ends on July 31. Students may serve a second term.
- 8.1.3 Student senators shall be fulltime (minimum of six credits) senior students (Grade 11 or 12) in the year that they serve on the Student Senate. Student senators must commit a significant amount of time and effort to the position. Student senators, whenever possible, are expected to attend all evening meetings of the board and assigned committees.
- 8.1.4 The student senators will hold an election before April 30 of each year to determine the two student trustees. The election will be by secret ballot.
- 8.1.5 A person is not qualified to be elected or act as a student trustee if he or she is serving a sentence of imprisonment in a penal or correctional institution.
- 8.1.6 If a vacancy for the position of student trustee occurs during the year, it shall be filled by a by-election.
- 8.1.7 The board shall provide the Ministry with the names of the student trustees not later than 30 days after the date of the election or by-election.

8.2 Avon Maitland District School Board Student Senate

8.2.1 Mandate, Terms of Reference and Structure:

a) Mandate:

- i. The purpose of the Student Senate is to advise the board on matters relating to public education within Avon Maitland District School Board.
- ii. The committee may propose refinements to this mandate for board approval.
- iii. The committee will review this policy in the spring of each year.

b) Membership and Terms of Reference:

- i. There shall be an advisory committee to the board entitled Avon Maitland District School Board Student Senate with the following membership:
 - Up to two (2) students from each secondary school, excluding AMDEC, to be known as student senators;
 - Two (2) board members will be assigned, one to serve as a member and one as an alternate
 - One (1) school administrator (principal or vice-principal)
 - Director of education or designate
- ii. A quorum exists if six student senators, 50% of the secondary schools who have senate representation in a given year, and one board member or administrator are present.
- iii. All student members are encouraged to participate on other board committees.
- iv. If a student senator misses three meetings, the principal advisor or administrative liaison may contact the student senator's school and recommend to the school officials that a replacement be considered in compliance with the respective school's constitution.
- v. A budget for the operation of this committee shall be established annually in the approved expenditure budget for the district.

- vi. Section 10 [Board Member Expenses] of the Board Governance By-laws will apply for travel and out-of-pocket expenses for student senators to fulfil their functions at board and committee meetings.
- c) **Structure:**
- i. The newly elected group shall meet prior to the end of the school year for in-service training and to define its own internal structure.
 - ii. The Student Senate shall define its own internal structure which shall include:
 - Establishing a process for selecting a chair and other officers if required;
 - Establishing annually a meeting schedule which shall include all regular board meetings and;
 - Establishing criteria for communicating information to their student councils and to the students at their schools and, where appropriate, feeder schools, on topics discussed by the committee.
 - iii. Meetings with Trustees and Attending Board Meetings:
 - Student senators and trustees of the board will usually meet monthly to discuss relevant issues.
 - Upon request, on a meeting-to-meeting basis, a table will be designated for student senators who are not the student trustees on the board and who wish to attend the public board meetings to observe the process.

8.3 Role of the Student Senator

- 8.3.1 The role of a student senator is to represent the interests of the students of his/her family of schools at Student Senate meetings.
- 8.3.2 Student senators shall communicate information to their student councils and to the students at their schools and, as appropriate, to feeder schools, on topics pertaining to students and their school, which have been discussed at Student Senate meetings.
- 8.3.3 The student senator shall, upon receipt of complaints, questions or suggestions regarding a school or service, direct the person or persons to the appropriate principal or supervisor of the service. Student senators shall not involve themselves with complaints about individual employees of the board. Should the complaint continue, the student senator may discuss the matter with the director of education or designate.

8.4 Role of Student Trustees

- 8.4.1 The role of a student trustee is to represent the interest of all students at meetings of the board.
- 8.4.2 The student trustees shall sit at the table at board meetings and at meetings of committee of the whole, public session, and may speak to any matter before the board or committee according to Board Governance Bylaws, representing the views of the majority of student senators. The student trustees may, at their own discretion, participate in closed sessions of the board, except on issues related to the disclosure of intimate, personal or financial information in respect of a member of the board or committee, an employee or prospective employee of the board or a pupil or his or her parent or guardian
- 8.4.3 A student trustee cannot move a motion but can suggest a motion. A student trustee is not entitled to a binding vote but is entitled to request a recorded vote at any board or committee meeting so that the student trustee's voice can be reported. When such a request is made, two votes must take place, the first including the student trustee(s') vote(s) and the second without the student trustee(s') vote(s).

8.5 Conflict of Interest

- 8.5.1 A student trustee must declare a conflict of interest if he or she has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in a matter under consideration. The student trustee must also declare a conflict if he or she has some other, non-pecuniary type of interest that places the person in a conflict position (e.g., bias). This could include any benefit obtained by relations, close friends, or associates of the student trustee.
- 8.5.2 When a student trustee declares a conflict of interest on any matter before the board he/she,
- a) shall, prior to any consideration of the matter at the meeting, disclose the interest and the general nature thereof;
 - b) shall not take part in the discussion and shall absence himself or herself from the room while the matter is being discussed, and
 - c) shall not attempt in any way whether before, during or after the meeting to influence the voting on any such question.

8.6 Mentor Program for Student Senators

- 8.6.1 Student senators may be supported by a board member. The board member will discuss any issues upon which they want a student voice with their student trustee.
- 8.6.2 As part of the reciprocal relationship, the student senators and board members may contact one another to share perspectives.

8.7 Disqualification of a Student Senator

- 8.7.1 If necessary, the director of education or designate, in consultation with the student senator's principal, will bring a recommendation for disqualification to the board during a closed session.
- 8.7.2 Disqualification may occur for one of the following reasons:
- a) the student senator fails to maintain the required attendance at Student Senate meetings
 - b) the student senator ceases to be enrolled as a full-time student in the board
 - c) the student senator commits a serious breach of his or her school's code of conduct
 - d) the student senator's behaviour is deemed to be incompatible with the roles and responsibilities of the position.
- 8.7.3. The student senator has the right to present to the board prior to the board making its decision.

8.8 Recognition of Student Senators and Student Trustees

- 8.8.1 Upon completion of the student senator's term of office, the student senator will be suitably recognized by the board. Types of recognition include, but are not limited to, confirmation of the accumulation of community service hours and a letter of service signed by the chair of the board.
- 8.8.2 Upon completion of his/her term of office, each student trustee is entitled to an honorarium. If a student trustee holds office for less than a full term, a prorated amount of the honorarium will be paid.

9. Filling Vacancies on the Board

9.1 Objective

This policy establishes the process by which the board shall fill a vacancy on the board when a board member (trustee) resigns, becomes ineligible or otherwise creates a vacancy on the board during the term of the board. It also establishes the process by which the board fills a vacancy when no qualified candidate runs in an election.

9.2 Background

9.2.1 The *Education Act, Section 221* allows a board to fill a trustee vacancy in one of two ways:

- (a) Require the municipality to hold a by-election; or
- (b) Appoint a qualified person to the position.

9.2.2 A by-election may not be held after March 31 in a municipal election year (i.e., within the last eight months of a board's four-year mandate). All costs of a by-election are borne by the board, in accordance with the *Municipal Elections Act* Section 7(3).

9.2.3 The method of appointment is not specified in the *Education Act*.

9.3 Board Decisions

9.3.1 By-election

If the board chooses to fill a trustee vacancy through a by-election in the vacated electoral zone, the process becomes the responsibility of the local municipality and takes approximately ten weeks. The municipality will provide to the board information regarding the implications of holding a by-election, including previous election results and estimated costs.

9.3.2 Appointment Process

- a) If the board chooses to appoint a trustee, the *Education Act* requires that the vacancy be filled within 90 days (221.(1) (a) after the office becomes vacant.
- b) The *Education Act, Section 219 (1)* specifies the qualifications necessary to be a member of a board. The person must be:
 - i. Qualified to vote for members of the board; and
 - ii. A resident in the area of jurisdiction of the board.Disqualifications are outlined in Sections 219(4), (5) and (7).
- c) The board may choose to appoint one of the unsuccessful trustee candidates from the last municipal election, providing that the candidate remains a qualified person and is willing to serve.
- d) If the board chooses to offer the position to a broader range of electors, the following actions will occur:
 - i. The vacancy shall be advertised in the local media.
 - ii. Persons interested in the position shall be required to submit an application in writing to the secretary of the board.
 - iii. Applicants will be required to provide the following information:
 - Why they are interested in the position;
 - Their background, qualifications, interests, experience, and concerns regarding the position; and
 - Other information they think is pertinent
- e) Any person expressing interest in applying for the position shall be offered a package of information to be picked up from the secretary of the board containing:
 - i. Avon Maitland District School Board facts folder;
 - ii. Policy No. 5 Board Members Code of Conduct;
 - iii. Schedule of board and committee meetings;
 - iv. Committee membership lists; and

- v. The OPSBA learning centre
- f) If filling the position by appointment, the board shall conduct an interview process.

9.4 Interview Process

- 9.4.1 Only candidates who have submitted written applications as set out in Section 9.3.2 (d) by the deadline date shall be considered for an interview.
- 9.4.2 Interviews shall be conducted on board premises, which may include a school or the Education Centre.
- 9.4.3 The secretary of the board shall ask trustees to indicate their intention about their attendance and participation in the interviews.
- 9.4.4 Trustees participating shall constitute an *ad hoc* selection committee. Committee membership shall be a minimum of three trustees. The selection committee shall select its chair from among its members. Only trustees who have participated in all interviews shall vote on the committee recommendation. The committee shall make its recommendation to the board at the next meeting of the board.
- 9.4.5 The secretary of the board shall be the administrative liaison to the selection committee.
- 9.4.6 The selection committee shall establish its operating practices, but these shall include a common set of questions for all applicants.
- 9.4.7 The appointed candidate shall be advised promptly of the board's decision and shall be sworn in at the next opportunity following his or her appointment.

10. Board Member Expenses

- 10.1 Avon Maitland District School Board shall reimburse board members for legitimate expenses incurred in carrying out their responsibilities while representing the interests of students, the community and the board.
- 10.2 The Avon Maitland District School Board assumes no obligation to reimburse expenses that are not in compliance with this policy.
- 10.3 Avon Maitland District School Board recognizes the benefit to the board of board members participating in professional development, including area, regional or provincial conferences and conventions related to current and ongoing matters of importance and interest to the board.
- 10.4 Claims for reimbursement shall be paid in accordance to Administrative Procedure No.515 Travel and Expense Reimbursement. Claims should be made via the director of education's office on a monthly basis.
- 10.5 Claims reimbursement request for the purpose of hospitality shall be extended to trustees in accordance with Administrative Procedure 518: Hospitality. . Hospitality at board expense may only be extended by a trustee with the approval of the chair or vice-chair.

10.6 Professional Development for Board Members

Notification of conferences or conventions that may be of interest to members of the board will be distributed or communicated from the office of the director, as the information is available.

- a) Funding for professional development (including conferences and conventions and required travel) will be determined on an annual basis during the deliberations of the board's budget process. This will include amounts designated for chair, vice-chair, OPSBA delegate and trustees.
- b) Professional development includes, but is not limited to, attendance at conferences and conventions, courses related to the role of the trustee, and the purchase of professional print materials such as books or relevant magazine subscriptions.
- c) If an individual trustee professional development allotment is unspent, the excess dollars may be redistributed for the use of other trustees who would otherwise exceed their allocations, through approval by the chair in consultation with the vice-chair, on a case-by-case basis.
- d) Board approval is required for an expenditure, which would cause the total fund in 10.6 (a) to be exceeded.

It is recognized that the board's Ontario Public School Boards' Association delegate may exceed the above allotment to attend OPSBA conferences within Ontario

10.6.1 Student Trustee Expenses

The approved allotment shall be determined as part of the annual budget process and allocated by the director of education or designate.

[See reference in Section 8.4.1 (b) vi under Avon Maitland District School Board Student Senate.]

10.6.2 Annual Report

Annually, at the completion of the fiscal year, the amount expended by each trustee in each category specified by this policy shall be reported to the board.

11. Indemnification of Board Members

As permitted under Section 176 of the *Education Act*, Avon Maitland District School Board provides group accident insurance to indemnify a member of a board or his or her estate against loss in case he or she is accidentally injured or killed. The board also provides group public liability and property damage insurance to indemnify a member of a board or his or her estate "in respect of loss or damage for which he or she has become liable by reason of injury to persons or property or in respect of loss or damage suffered by him or her by reason of injury to his or her own property, while traveling on the business of the board or in the performance of duties as a member of the board ...within or outside the area over which the board has jurisdiction".

12 Tributes: Illness and Funerals

12.1 Avon Maitland District School Board has made provision for:

- a) Flowers or other small memento for the illness of a board member.
- b) Flowers or an appropriate donation to a charity or church of the family's choice upon the death of a board member or immediate family member.

12.2 If a board member's illness is extensive, additional purchases can be made at the discretion of the chair or the director of education.

12.3 In the case of death in the family, “immediate family” is defined as spouse, parents, and children. Discretionary power is vested in the chair or the director of education as to whether other persons can be recognized.

12.4 The director’s office will be responsible for deciding upon and making whatever purchase is appropriate and will also be responsible for notifying other members of the board.

13. Board Review/Self-Evaluation

13.1 The board’s review/self-evaluation process will complement the director of education evaluation process.

13.2 The purpose of the board review/self-evaluation is to answer such questions as the following:

- a) How well have we fulfilled each of our defined roles in relation to our district mission and vision as a board this year?
- b) How do we perceive our interpersonal working relationships?
- c) How well do we receive input and how well do we communicate?
- d) How well have we adhered to our annual work plan?
- e) How would we rate our board/director relations?
- f) How well have we adhered to our governance policies?
- g) What have we accomplished this past year? How do we know?

13.3 The principles upon which the board review/self-evaluation is based are as follows:

- a) A learning organization is focused on the improvement of practice.
- b) A pre-determined process for evaluation strengthens the governance function and builds credibility for the board.
- c) An evidence-based approach provides objectivity.

13.4 The components of the board review/self-evaluation are:

- a) Review of board role performance;
- b) Monitoring interpersonal working relationships;
- c) Monitoring board representation/communication;
- d) Review of the annual work plan completion;
- e) Monitoring board/director relations;
- f) Review of board motions;
- g) Review of board governance policies;
- h) Creating a positive path forward.

14. Amendments to the Board Governance By-Laws

No amendments, alteration or addition to the Board Governance By-laws or to any policy of the board shall be made unless due notice thereof in writing, setting forth the proposed amendment, alteration or addition, shall have been given at a meeting prior to that at which the same comes up for consideration.

A two-thirds majority of all board members present must vote in favour to effect the change.
[Section 5.3.4 (c)]

PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURE MADE EASY

Class of Motion	Kinds of Motion	Must be Seconded	Debatable	Vote Required	Amendable	When Used
Main Motion - introduces subjects for action	Main Motion	Yes	Yes	Majority	Yes	when floor clear
Subsidiary Motions - seek to properly dispose of main motion	Amend	Yes	Yes	Majority	Yes	to modify a motion
	Amend the amendment	Yes	Yes	Majority	No	to modify amendment
	Postpone indefinitely (or others)	Yes	Yes	Majority	No	to kill main motion
	Refer to a committee or to administration	Yes	Yes	Majority	Yes	to study and/or modify
	Postpone to certain time	Yes	Yes	Majority	Yes	to defer action
	Limit or extend debate	Yes	No	2/3	Yes	to control speaker
	To call for a vote	Yes	No	2/3	No	to close debate
	Table a motion	Yes	No	Majority	No	to defer action
Incidental Motions - handled before action is taken on subject to which it relates	Withdraw a motion	No	No	Majority	No	to prevent wasting time
	Object to consideration of question	No	No	2/3	No	before debate open
	Suspension of the rules	Yes	No	Unanimous	No	to conduct special business
	Appeal ruling of chair re protocol	Yes	No	2/3	No	to correct chair
	Close nominations	Yes	No	2/3	Yes	limit nominations
	Re-open nominations	Yes	No	Majority	Yes	expand nomination
Unclassified Motions - these will bring a question before the group again	Take from table	Yes	No	Majority	No	to consider second time
	Motion to reconsider (Mover must have voted on the prevailing side.)	Yes	Yes	Majority	Yes	to consider second time
	Motion to rescind or repeal	Yes	Yes	2/3	Yes	to cancel previous motion
Privileged Motions - interrupts the proceedings	Point of order	No	Chair & mover	Chair rules	No	to keep on order of business
	Question of privilege	No	No	Majority	No	for comfort of members
	Motion to recess	Yes	Only to Length	Majority	Yes	to recess
	Adjourn	Yes	No	Majority	No	to close meeting

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

